

Feasibility of Volunteer Scat Collection as the Basis for Population Estimates of Black Bears and Grizzly Bears in Jasper National Park









Page | ii

This report should be cited as:

Bradley, M. 2017. Viability of using DNA from volunteer scat collection for the estimation of population size for black bears and grizzly bears in Jasper National Park. Unpublished Technical Report. Parks Canada Agency, Jasper, Alberta. 6 pages.







Page | iii

Abstract

Volunteers were used to collect black bear and grizzly bear scat in Jasper National Park (JNP) in 2015. The goal was to use DNA from scat as individual markers in spatially explicit capturemark-recapture population estimates. Volunteer recruitment was good, volunteers were enthusiastic workers, and JNP received a lot of good publicity about bear ecology and citizen engagement. Unfortunately, we did not collect enough samples to produce population estimates. It is likely that the JNP situation does not lend itself to using scat DNA as a viable technique for population estimation – too few bears, too few volunteers, and a trail network that does not cover enough of the landscape. Opportunistically collected scat could however contribute as auxiliary data to a hair snag population estimate, or could be used for other purposes – e.g. genetic variability studies, relatedness to other populations, or identification of problem bears.





Table of Contents

Abstractiii
Table of Contentsiv
List of Figuresv
Introduction1
Study Area & Methods2
Study Area2
Field Methods2
Genotyping4
Volunteer Recruitment
Results
Scat App and GPS Performance
Volunteer Participation5
Volunteer Task Performance5
Rate of Sample Collection
Genotyping7
Sampling per Month9
Cost Comparison: Hair vs. Scat Collections
Discussion
Volunteers and Citizen Science11
Genotyping Success, Sampling Rate and Seasonality11
Recommendations
Literature Cited





List of Figures

Figure 1. Study area, including trails that we expected to sample	. 2
Figure 2. Sample vials used by volunteers.	. 2
Figure 3. Location of samples collected, and trails hiked.	. 5
Figure 4. Number of scat samples collected per volunteer	. 5
Figure 5. Histogram of hike lengths by volunteers	. 6





Page | **vi**

List of Tables

Table 1. Estimated costs for emaneed seat concerton project.	Table 1.	Estimated	costs for enhance	ed scat collection	project	
--	----------	-----------	-------------------	--------------------	---------	--





Introduction

Obtaining precise population estimates of large mammals is fundamental for effective management of ecological integrity. However, gathering data for these estimates are usually quite expensive. For example, Jasper National Park (JNP) collaborated with fRI research (fRI) to estimate population size for grizzly bears in the south half of the park in 2014 using DNA from non-invasively collected hair (Stenhouse et al. 2015). The total cost of this project was \$143,000 (Stenhouse G., pers comm). A black bear population estimate was produced post hoc using hair gathered during the grizzly bear study (Boulanger et al. 2016), costing another \$8,000.

Another issue with scientific estimates is that the public may treat the resulting conclusions with mistrust, perhaps due to unfamiliarity with the field techniques and statistical analyses used. One idea to simultaneously lower costs and gain public trust has been to employ volunteers to gather data. Volunteers (by definition) work for free, and the hope is that by working on a project they will learn to trust the results and communicate that trust to others. Volunteer projects, also known as 'citizen science', do not produce usable data in all instances, so evaluation of the proposed project is advisable (Cohn 2008, Dickinson et al. 2010, Bonney et al. 2014).

After successfully completing the 2014 JNP grizzly bear (Stenhouse et al. 2015) and black bear population estimates (Boulanger et al. 2016), we decided to conduct a volunteer based collection of black bear scat in 2015 to assess citizen science as a way to produce low cost population estimates. The use of scat as a source of DNA is becoming a standard technique for population estimates (Lukacs and Burnham 2005, Luikart et al. 2010) and requires less in the way of setup costs and equipment for field work compared to hair snagging. As well, the spatially explicit estimation techniques (Efford 2011) employed for the JNP bear population estimates (Stenhouse et al. 2015, Boulanger et al. 2016) reduce costs by increasing the precision of estimates (i.e. smaller sample size and therefore lower expense to achieve the desired precision).

The JNP bear scat collection project was a collaboration with fRI. fRI also conducted a volunteer based scat collection project in 2015 (Sorensen et al. 2017). fRI recruited hunters to be volunteers on the provincial land base adjacent to JNP.

One objective of the program was to determine the feasibility of a volunteer program with little oversight and a small budget. We obtained the necessary funding for genotyping, but there were no dedicated staff to organize the volunteers, collect data or perform the necessary GIS and analytical work – these tasks were performed by staff with existing positions as time allowed.



Canadä

Study Area & Methods

Study Area

We established our study area to be a subset of the area used by (Stenhouse et al. 2015). We reasoned that it would be impractical to expect volunteers to cover the same area that was used by paid field workers (also, the 2014 study involved some helicopter support). Because JNP managers are interested in bears that interact with people, we felt that the smaller study area would include mostly those bears that interact with people and would thus provide useful information.



Figure 1. Study area, including trails that we expected to sample.

There are two approaches for spatially explicit population estimates – create a sampling grid with a sampling location within each grid cell (as was done for the JNP hair-based population estimates, (Stenhouse et al. 2015)) or sample along transects through a study area (Efford et al. 2009, Efford 2011, Efford and Fewster 2013). Because we wanted volunteers to sample scat as they hiked trails, we designed our study area for the transect approach (Figure 1). The study area was 4,682 km². There were approximately 1,332 km of trail available for sampling.

Field Methods

We used data collection kits supplied by fRI, consisting of sample vials with desiccant (Figure 2), short sticks (Popsicle sticks), and rubber gloves. The method consisted of volunteers hiking or biking trails and searching for bear scat while they were otherwise enjoying JNP. When a scat was encountered, they would use one of the



Figure 2. Sample vials used by volunteers.

Popsicle sticks to separate a thumbnail sized piece of scat and deposit the sample in the vial. Date, time, location (UTM or description) and volunteer name were recorded on the vial. Afterwards, volunteers could drop the samples off at the Interpretive Centre, or at the Resource Conservation Compound in the Jasper Townsite.







To record volunteer effort, we used three different methods, depending on the volunteer's willingness to use cell phone or GPS technology. First, for volunteers who had smart phones (Iphone or Android), we asked them to use the fRI Scat App. The Scat App was developed by fRI – it was adapted from an app already used by transportation companies to track shipments. The app used the phone's GPS to record the route hiked by the volunteer. When a scat was sampled, the volunteer would hit a virtual button on the phone to record the location (UTM coordinates), and then scan the QR-Code on the vial label to pair the sample with the digital data (Figure 3). The volunteer would also take a photo of the scat. The app would record the location, gps track of

the hike, and digital photo, and upload all to the fRI website. We would then download the data for incorporation into a JNP database.

The second method was for volunteers without smartphones – we gave these people small GPS units (IGotU brand, also supplied by fRI) that recorded their route and sample locations. Data would be uploaded to the JNP database after the GPS units were returned to us.

The third method was for volunteers that were unwilling to use either smartphones or GPS – we asked these volunteers to keep



Figure 3. Screen shots of the fRI scat app.

accurate notes on trails that they completed (effort) and sample locations. We would then manually create GIS files for these data.

We did not direct volunteer effort towards any particular places or trails. We wanted to maximize the number of volunteers and felt that directing people towards unpopular destinations would jeopardize participation rate.

We also asked staff to volunteer to collect scat while performing other duties (but only if it did not interfere with their normal duties), or while on non-work time. We considered most of these samples to be collected incidentally (i.e. without any recording of effort), so would not contribute to a population estimate (but could be used for other purposes).

We used data collected by both hikers and bikers. We also instructed staff to sample scat along roads and highways if time permitted.





Genotyping

Adapted from (Sorensen et al. 2017):

Scat samples were sent to the Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomy Research (NIBIO) in Svanhovd, Norway for genotyping. Each DNA extract was first screened for speciesdiagnostic amplification with one microsatellite marker (G10P) to separate grizzly bear and black bear samples (Paetkau and Strobeck 1994). After this, nuclear DNA profiles to reveal individual identity and gender were established using nine Short Tandem Repeats (STR) microsatellite markers (G10B, GIOH, G10J, G10L, G10M, G1A, G1D, G10P and MU50) developed for bears ((Paetkau and Strobeck 1994, Paetkau et al. 1995, Taberlet et al. 1997) and one sex-specific marker (Bellemain and Taberlet 2004). A detailed description of the protocols for molecular analysis of scat samples from European brown bears (*Ursus arctos arctos*) for individual identification can be found in (Kindberg et al. 2011) and (Andreassen et al. 2012).

Volunteer Recruitment

Kevin Gedling, volunteer coordinator for JNP, used his contacts and skills to publicize the scat collection program. The program was named "Scat Seekers" in the advertising materials. The JNP website and JNP Facebook page contained descriptions of the program and how to get involved. Notices were posted around the Jasper townsite and with partners (e.g. Mountain Equipment Co-op, Camper's Village in Edmonton). Word-of-mouth and relationships within the Jasper community were also important recruiting tools.

The scat project was also mentioned in passing by a Parks Canada spokesperson during a media interview for another story. News of the scat project was then picked up and publicized in both traditional and social media, greatly increasing the reach of our publicity efforts.

Volunteer training was conducted by Kevin Gedling, and included instruction on proper sample collection techniques, as well as conducting field work safely in bear habitat. Five Scat Seeker training sessions were held. Distance training was conducted for a group of staff working for the Canadian Forest Service in Edmonton and a bilingual distance version of the training deck was developed.

Results

Scat App and GPS Performance

The initial goal was that the Scat App would provide geographically accurate sampling transects that could be incorporated into a GIS system for quantification of effort, for use in a spatially explicit mark-recapture population estimate. In reality, route recording was inconsistent, due to user error and inadequate GPS performance of the phones. There were also issues with the app itself not working consistently on the Android operating system, and not always recording





routes or transmitting routes to the website. Often, we would receive routes with only one or two points over several kilometres. In the end, we had to manually recreate a high proportion of routes based on route data from the website, plus information gathered by communicating with the volunteer. These tasks were considerably more onerous than we had anticipated.

The Scat App was ideal however for recording the individual sample locations with associated photos.

The IGotU GPS units worked well. Routes were generally recorded accurately, as were locations. Considerable time was required to clean data and input into our GIS system however.

Volunteer Participation

31 members of the public volunteered to collect bear scat for the program. 23 staff (4 fRI, and 19 JNP staff) also volunteered.

The 31 public volunteers walked approximately 511 km of trail, and collected 75 samples (Figure 4). Many of the popular trails were hiked several times, while most trails were hiked once or not at all.

The 23 staff volunteers walked approximately 338 km of trail, and collected 59

samples. Many of the staff samples were collected opportunistically, with no effort recorded.

Of the 31 public volunteers, just over half collected no samples (Figure 5). Five of the 31 volunteers collected 70% of the samples.

Volunteer Task Performance

The goal was to accurately record sampling effort, in addition to

Figure 4. Location of samples collected, and trails hiked.





obtaining an adequate number of bear identifications for calculating a population estimate and



eventually a survival rate (if the program was conducted for more than one year). It soon became apparent however that in addition to the app not performing as hoped (see above), the app was not being used properly by the volunteers. Monitoring of the routes and locations as they came in revealed that a lot of people were turning off the app after obtaining a sample and not recording the remainder of their hike. We reminded the volunteers of the problem, but this issue was never fully resolved. The combination of poor app performance, combined with improper route recording by the volunteers resulted in poor quantification of effort.

Rate of Sample Collection

As noted above, we couldn't adequately record effort, but we used the information we did have to roughly estimate number of kilometres hiked, to compare against the number of samples collected. The most common hike length for volunteers was 5km or less, and most hikes (almost 90%) were 15km or less (Figure 6). On average, volunteers hiked 8km between scat samples. This metric only counts distance hiked where sampling was possible – if the hike was an out and back on the same trail, it was only counted once.

Rate of sample collection for staff volunteers was similar – 10.2 km between scat samples.



Figure 6. Histogram of hike lengths by volunteers.



Canadä

Genotyping

Of the 134 samples sent out for genotyping, 53 yielded no information of any kind – the sample was likely too old and the DNA degraded. Eighty one samples yielded species identification (37 black bears, 44 grizzly bears). 62 samples yielded gender determination (31 males, 31 females) and 58 samples could be identified to individual. Success rate of genotyping to individual was therefore 58/134 or 43%.

Of the 26 successful black bear genotypes, 13 were unique individuals. Five bears were captured 2 or more times, while 8 bears were captured once (Figure 7).

Of the 32 successful grizzly bear genotypes, 17 were unique individuals. Five bears were captured 2 or more times, while 12 bears were captured once (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Number of captures per individual for black bears (left) and grizzly bears (right).

Only 3 black bears were identified 3 or more times, so only 3 minimum convex polygons (MCP) could be calculated (Figure 8). The largest MCP was 104 km². Even the largest MCP is an underestimate of an actual black bear MCP. Two other bears were identified twice.



Figure 8. Individual locations, with minimum convex polygons (MCP) for black bears with three or more locations.





Page | 8

Only 3 grizzly bears were identified 3 or more times, so only 3 MCPs could be determined (Figure 9). The largest MCP was 27 km², an underestimate of an actual grizzly bear MCP. Two other bears were identified twice.



Figure 9. Individual locations and minimum convex polygons (MCP) for grizzly bears with three or more locations..

The SECR technique uses multiple captures of the same individuals to calculate home ranges (MCR is a type of home range) – the home range centres are used to estimate density. To calculate a valid population estimate, you should have at least 10 instances of multiple captures of the same individuals, but it is better to have 20 (Efford et al. 2004). In our study, only 5 bears (of each species, both sexes) were caught more than once, so viable population estimates could not be calculated.





Sampling per Month

We concentrated on August and September as our sampling months, so not it's not surprising that that's when almost all of our samples were collected (Figure 10). More black bear samples were collected in August, while more grizzly bear samples were collected in September (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Collection date of samples, by species.





Cost Comparison: Hair vs. Scat Collections

We had a budget of \$15,000 for this project. The genotyping contract for this project was for \$14,000, or just over \$100 per sample. The remaining \$1,000 was spent on communications efforts. We had no staff dedicated to this project, but the wildlife biologist spent approximately 200 hours on study design, database design, GIS work and report writing. The volunteer coordinator likewise spent about 120 hours of his time on advertising the project and coordinating the volunteers. This amounts to about \$10,000 in staff time. In total, the project cost about \$25,000. Costs not included include Scat App development, sampling vials (donated by fRI), and GPS units (also donated by fRI).

The 2014 JNP DNA hair based population estimate for grizzly bears (Boulanger et al. 2016) cost about \$140,000, plus another \$8,000 for the black bear population estimate (based on black bear hair collected during the grizzly bear study(Boulanger et al. 2016)). If we estimate fRI and JNP staff costs for both of the 2014 studies, then the total cost for both bear species was approximately \$170,000.

Since the current scat project did not result in a usable population estimate, it may be helpful to estimate the cost of a scat collection project that would have a better chance of being successful. For a theoretical enhanced scat project we propose that field staff would be hired to augment the sampling efforts of the volunteers, a GIS technician would devote 2 months of time to data cleaning and input into a database. A volunteer coordinator would devote 4 months of time (to increase the number of volunteers). GPS units and miscellaneous equipment would have to be purchased. Vehicles would have to be rented. The field season would be increased to 4 months instead of the current 2. We estimate the cost for an enhanced scat collection project to be about \$158,750 (Table 1).

Item	Description	Cost
Field Staff	4 for 16 weeks	\$55,000
GIS Tech	8 weeks	\$12,000
Volunteer coordinate/PR	16 weeks	\$24,000
Project Lead	16 weeks	\$26,000
Trucks	2 trucks for 16 weeks	\$10,000
Public Engagement	Travel and promotion	\$4,000
Field Equipment		\$2,000
GPS	IGotU for Volunteers	\$5,000
	Sample Vials, bags,	
Sampling equipment, supplies	sticks	\$2,000
Genotyping	250 samples	\$18,750
	Total	\$158,750

Table 1. Estimated costs for enhanced scat collection project.





Page | 11

Discussion

Volunteers and Citizen Science

We recruited many enthusiastic people as volunteers for our project (55 people, including fRI and JNP staff). We gained a lot of publicity when an inadvertent comment by a JNP spokesperson was picked up by both traditional and social media. We feel that the project was a success in terms of promoting awareness of bear ecology and field techniques. Because we did not end up collecting enough samples to calculate a population estimate however, it is clear that to a completely successful project would require a lot more volunteers.

A small number of volunteers accounted for a large number of samples -3 of our volunteers collected over half of the samples (not counting those collected by staff). These 'super' volunteers put in a lot of hours hiking. They didn't just hike for us – we were told this was their normal routine.

We had decided at the outset to not direct volunteers to specific trails or times, in an effort to maximize participation – and we feel that high participation was achieved. The high number of volunteers however came at the cost of efficient sampling of the study area. Much of the effort was spent on popular trails close to town, and many of our samples came from these trails. Another problem with volunteer workers is that they did not always operate the equipment (Scat App or GPS units) properly, or properly record effort. For all these reasons, it soon became apparent that we were not going to get a proper estimate of sampling effort, and thus calculating a valid population estimate would not be possible. A more viable strategy for using volunteers may be to put more effort into finding volunteers that would accept more instruction and supervision, and had the available free time to do field work at appropriate intervals, rather than when it was convenient for them. Volunteers would likely have to be paired with staff to be effective.

We had hoped to get samples from volunteers biking, and incidental samples from staff driving, but neither strategy worked. We think that the searching efficiency is likely lower when in a fast moving vehicle. Also, personal incentive to stop and collect scat is probably lower for a biker or driver.

Genotyping Success, Sampling Rate and Seasonality

About 43% of JNP samples submitted to the lab resulted in identification to individual. This actually compares favourably to the approximately 20% success rate for the concurrent project that was run in adjacent Alberta (Sorensen et al. 2017) or for European brown bears in Italy (De Barba et al. 2010) but is considerably less than the approximately 70% success rate reported by Swedish brown bear studies (Kindberg et al. 2011). Reasons for the discrepancy in success rates are unclear, but differences in bear diet have been linked to genotyping success (Murphy et al. 2003). Also, genotyping success is likely to be affected by the interaction of scat deposition rate and sampling rate – i.e. how often scat is deposited, and how often it is picked up. DNA has been





shown to degrade with time due to temperature, humidity and UV exposure (Murphy et al. 2007, Stenglein et al. 2010, Lonsinger et al. 2015). Seasonal variation in genotyping success has also been reported for other species (Piggott 2005, Vynne et al. 2012).

Seasonal differences in success rates are why we timed our sampling for the last half of the summer (i.e. closer to fall). By doing so however, we eliminated May through July, a period where the co-occurrence of bears and people on the trails of JNP is probably maximal. In spring, bears forage in the valley bottoms for new vegetation and ungulate calves. After ungulate calves are mobile and vegetation green-up rises in elevation, the bears generally forage at higher elevations (unpublished JNP data). So our late summer sampling strategy likely increased the time between deposition and sampling, and may have contributed to our suboptimal sampling and genotyping.

So, in JNP we are faced with a difficult choice: collect samples in spring when genotyping success is low but sample collection is efficient, or collect samples in fall, when genotyping success is usually high, but sample collection is inefficient. It could be that a scat collecting project in JNP will not be practical until genotyping success of spring or summer bear scats improves.

Sweden obtains valid population estimates from volunteer surveys conducted by moose hunters recruited to collect bear scat (Bellemain et al. 2005). Their volunteers are able to provide approximately 6,000 scat samples per year, compared to our 134 samples. One reason for their success is a high number of volunteers – they typically recruit between 70 and 80% of an available 30,000 hunters. A second reason is a higher density of grizzly bears – about 30 grizzly bears per thousand km² (Kindberg et al. 2011), as opposed to 13 grizzly bears per thousand km² in our study area (Boulanger et al. 2016) (Sweden however, does not have black bears, which occur at 30 bears per thousand km² in our study area (Boulanger et al. 2016)). Lastly, there is a dense, regularly spaced network of roads in Sweden (0.7 roads per km² with an unreported density of trails (Kindberg et al. 2011) which enables their volunteers to access a high proportion of the land base. JNP for comparison has about 0.28 km of trail/km² that are concentrated mostly in the valleys.

Recommendations

Sweden represents an ideal situation for scat collecting: high densities of both volunteers and bears interacting during the ideal season for genotyping, coupled with easy and regularly spaced access. JNP is unlikely to ever enjoy any of these advantages, so using volunteers to gather scat in JNP may never result in valid population estimates. Even if implemented, an enhanced program at over five times the cost of the 2015 project (Table 1) may not end up producing a valid population estimate – it's only an assumption that the extra effort of the enhanced project would actually yield enough samples. Also, despite the estimated cost of an enhanced project





being almost the same as the hair snag cost, a hair snag project would probably still yield more samples, because the snagging stations include a lure (rotten blood) that attracts bears to sampling locations, and hair is a more reliable source of DNA (Sorensen et al. 2017). So there seems to be little point in persisting with a scat based population estimate project for the JNP situation. Scat may however prove to be useful when used in combination with other data sources – the combination of hair from snag stations and hair from rub trees has been shown to improve the precision of estimates, even though hair from rub trees is not sufficient on its own to provide an estimate (Boulanger et al. 2008).

The use of scat as a source of DNA was shown to be possible however (if not particularly efficient), so collecting scat may be a useful technique for purposes other than population estimation. We could for example use DNA from opportunistically gathered scat to augment studies of genetic variability, relatedness to other bear populations, or genetic lineages of problem bears.

Literature Cited

- Andreassen, R., J. Schregel, A. Kopatz, C. Tobiassen, P. Knappskog, S. Hagen, O. Kleven, M. Schneider, I. Kojola, and J. Aspi. 2012. A forensic DNA profiling system for Northern European brown bears (Ursus arctos). Forensic Science International: Genetics 6:798-809.
- Bellemain, E., J. E. Swenson, D. Tallmon, S. Brunberg, and P. Taberlet. 2005. Estimating population size of elusive animals with DNA from hunter-collected feces: four methods for brown bears. Conservation Biology 19:150-161.
- Bellemain, E., and P. Taberlet. 2004. Improved noninvasive genotyping method: application to brown bear (Ursus arctos) faeces. Molecular Ecology Notes **4**:519-522.
- Bonney, R., J. L. Shirk, T. B. Phillips, A. Wiggins, H. L. Ballard, A. J. Miller-Rushing, and J. K. Parrish. 2014. Next steps for citizen science. Science **343**:1436-1437.
- Boulanger, J., M. Bradley, and G. B. Stenhouse. 2016. Estimates of population size and density of black bears from the 2014 South Jasper National Park DNA mark-recapture inventory. Parks Canada Report:22 pp.
- Boulanger, J., K. C. Kendall, J. B. Stetz, D. A. Roon, L. P. Waits, and D. Paetkau. 2008. Multiple data sources improve DNA-based mark-recapture population estimates of grizzly bears. Ecological Applications 18:577-589.
- Cohn, J. P. 2008. Citizen science: Can volunteers do real research? Bioscience 58:192-197.
- De Barba, M., L. P. Waits, P. Genovesi, E. Randi, R. Chirichella, and E. Cetto. 2010. Comparing opportunistic and systematic sampling methods for non-invasive genetic monitoring of a small translocated brown bear population. Journal of Applied Ecology **47**:172-181.
- Dickinson, J. L., B. Zuckerberg, and D. N. Bonter. 2010. Citizen science as an ecological research tool: challenges and benefits. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics **41**:149-172.
- Efford, M., D. Dawson, and C. Robbins. 2004. DENSITY: software for analysing capturerecapture data from passive detector arrays. Animal Biodiversity and Conservation **27**:217-228.





- Efford, M. G. 2011. Estimation of population density by spatially explicit capture-recapture analysis of data from area searches. Ecology **92**:2202-2207.
- Efford, M. G., D. L. Borchers, and A. E. Byrom. 2009. Density estimation by spatially explicit capture–recapture: likelihood-based methods. Pages 255-269 Modeling demographic processes in marked populations. Springer.
- Efford, M. G., and R. M. Fewster. 2013. Estimating population size by spatially explicit capture– recapture. Oikos **122**:918-928.
- Kindberg, J., J. E. Swenson, G. Ericsson, E. Bellemain, C. Miquel, and P. Taberlet. 2011. Estimating population size and trends of the Swedish brown bear Ursus arctos population. Wildlife Biology 17:114-123.
- Lonsinger, R. C., E. M. Gese, S. J. Dempsey, B. M. Kluever, T. R. Johnson, and L. P. Waits. 2015. Balancing sample accumulation and DNA degradation rates to optimize noninvasive genetic sampling of sympatric carnivores. Molecular Ecology Resources 15:831-842.
- Luikart, G., N. Ryman, D. A. Tallmon, M. K. Schwartz, and F. W. Allendorf. 2010. Estimation of census and effective population sizes: the increasing usefulness of DNA-based approaches. Conservation Genetics **11**:355-373.
- Lukacs, P. M., and K. P. Burnham. 2005. Research notes: Estimating population size from DNAbased closed capture–recapture data incorporating genotyping error. Journal of Wildlife Management **69**:396-403.
- Murphy, M. A., K. C. Kendall, A. Robinson, and L. P. Waits. 2007. The impact of time and field conditions on brown bear (Ursus arctos) faecal DNA amplification. Conservation Genetics 8:1219-1224.
- Murphy, M. A., L. P. Waits, and K. C. Kendall. 2003. The influence of diet on faecal DNA amplification and sex identification in brown bears (Ursus arctos). Molecular Ecology 12:2261-2265.
- Paetkau, D., W. Calvert, I. Stirling, and C. Strobeck. 1995. Microsatellite analysis of population structure in Canadian polar bears. Molecular Ecology **4**:347-354.
- Paetkau, D., and C. Strobeck. 1994. Microsatellite analysis of genetic variation in black bear populations. Molecular Ecology **3**:489-495.
- Piggott, M. P. 2005. Effect of sample age and season of collection on the reliability of microsatellite genotyping of faecal DNA. Wildlife Research **31**:485-493.
- Sorensen, A., S. Milligan, T. Larsen, K. Graham, H. G. Eiken, S. Hagen, S. G. Aarne, I. M. B. Fløystad, and G. Stenhouse. 2017. Using scat DNA and citizen science to determine grizzly bear distribution and abundance in West-Central, Alberta.
- Stenglein, J., M. De Barba, D. Ausband, and L. Waits. 2010. Impacts of sampling location within a faeces on DNA quality in two carnivore species. Molecular Ecology Resources 10:109-114.
- Stenhouse, G. B., J. Boulanger, M. G. Efford, S. Rovang, T. McKay, A. Sorensen, and K. L. Graham. 2015. Estimates of grizzly bear population size and density for the 2014 Alberta Yellowhead Population Unit (BMA 3) and South Jasper National Park Inventory Project. FRI Research:64 pp.
- Taberlet, P., J. J. Camarra, S. Griffin, E. Uhres, O. Hanotte, L. Waits, C. Dubois-Paganon, T. Burke, and J. Bouvet. 1997. Noninvasive genetic tracking of the endangered Pyrenean brown bear population. Molecular Ecology 6:869-876.





Vynne, C., M. Baker, Z. Breuer, and S. Wasser. 2012. Factors influencing degradation of DNA and hormones in maned wolf scat. Animal Conservation **15**:184-194.



Canadä